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The Honorable Lisa R. Barton
Secretary
U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E. Street, S.W.
Washington D.C. 20436

Re: Certain Movable Barrier Operator Systemsand Components Thereof, N0. 337-TA

Dear Secretary Barton: _

Enclosed for filing on behalf of The Chamberlain Group, Inc. (“CGI”), are the following
documents in support of Complainant’s request that the Commission commence an investigation
pursuant to the provisions of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. §
1337. Please note that Confidential Exhibit 11 to the Complaint contains Confidential Business
Information, and pursuant to the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, a request for
confidential treatment of the information in that exhibit accompanies this filing.

Accordingly, Complainant submits the following documents for filing:

1. An original and eight (8) paper copies of Complainant’s Non-Confidential Verified
Complaint and the Public Interest Statement (original unbound); one (1) CD of the Non
Confidential Exhibits, and one (1) CD of the Confidential Exhibit. (Commission Rules
201.6(0), 210.4(f)(2), 210.8(a)(1)(i), and 201.8(b).)

2. Three (3) additional copies of the Verified Non-Confidential Complaint, the Public
Interest Statement, and three (3) CDs of the Non-Confidential Exhibits for service upon
each proposed respondent. (Commission Rules 210.8(a)(1)(iii) and 210.11(a).)

3. Three (3) additional copies of the Confidential Exhibit on CD, one for each proposed
respondent. (Commission Rules 210.8(a)(1)(iii) and 210.1 1(a).)

4. One ( 1) certified copy of the asserted United States Patent: U.S. Patent No. 8,587,404
(the “’404 Patent”), identified as Exhibit 1 in the Complaint; one (1) certified copy of the
asserted United States Patent: U.S. Patent No. 7,755,223 (the ‘"223 Patent”), identified as
Exhibit 2 in the Complaint; and one (1) certified copy of the asserted United States
Patent: U.S. Patent No. 6,741,052 (the “’052 Patent”), identified as Exhibit 3 in the
Complaint.

Wiliner Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLI‘,350 South Grand Avenue, Suite 2100, Los Angeles; California 90071
Beijing Berlin Boston Brussels Denver Frankfurt London Los Angeles New York Palo Alto Washington



WILMERHALE
The Honorable Lisa R. Barton
May 4, 2018
Page 2

5. One (1) certified copy of the assignment for the ’404 Patent, identified as Exhibit 4 in the
Complaint; one (1) certified copy of the assignment for the ’223 Patent, identified as
Exhibit 5 in the Complaint; and one (1) certified copy of the assignment for the ’052
Patent, identified as Exhibit 6 in the Complaint.

6. One (1) certified copy of the prosecution history of the ’404 Patent, identified as R
Appendix A in the Complaint and three (3) additional copies on separate CDs.
(CommissionRules 2lO.l2(c)(l).)

7. One (1) certified copy of the prosecution history of the ’223 Patent, identified as
Appendix C in the Complaint and three (3) additional copies on separate CDs.
(Commission Rules 21O.l2(c)(1).)

8. One (1) certified copy of the prosecution history of the ’O52Patent, identified as
Appendix E in the Complaint and three (3) additional copies on separate CDs.
(CommissionRules 2l0.l2(c)(l).)

9. Four (4) copies of references mentioned in each of the prosecution histories of the ’404,
’223, and ’O52-Patents, identified as Appendices B, D, and F in the Complaint.
(Commission Rule 210. l2(c)(2).)

10. A letter of certification pursuant to Commission Rules 20l.6(b) and 210.5(d) requesting
confidential treatment of information appearing in Confidential Exhibit 11.

Respectfully submitted,

9&2?/yvdaw
David C. Marcus

Counsel for The Chamberlain Group, Inc.

Enclosures



WILMERHALE

VIA HAND DELIVERY DavidQ Maw»

M 4 2018 ‘l 51312333358ay , *davrd.marcus@wilmerhale.com

The Honorable Lisa R. Barton
Secretary
U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E. Street, S.W.
Washington D.C. 20436

Re: Certain MovableBarrier Operator Systemsand Components Thereofl Inv. No. 337-TA-é

Dear Secretary Barton:

In accordance with Commission Rules 201.6 and 210.5, The Chamberlain Group, Inc.
(“CGI”) requests confidential treatment of the business information contained in Confidential
Exhibit ll.

The information for which confidential treatment is sought is proprietary commercial
infonnation not otherwise publicly available. Specifically, Confidential Exhibit 11 contains
proprietary business information regarding Complainant’s domestic industry, including
information relating to the financial performance and commercial operation of Complainant.

The information described above qualifies as confidential business information pursuant
to Rule 201 .6(a) because substantially identical information is not available to the public,
unauthorized disclosure of such information could cause substantial harm to the competitive
position of CGI, and the disclosure of such infonnation could impair the Commissi0n’s ability to
obtain information necessary to perform its statutory function.

Please contact me if you have any questions about this request, or if this request is not
granted in full.

Respectfully submitted,

David C. Marcus

Counsel for The Chamberlain Group, Inc.
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CERTIFICATION

I, David C_Marcus, counsel for Complainant The Chamberlain Group, Inc., declare as
follows: '

1. I am duly authorized by Complainant to execute this Certification;

2. I have reviewed Confidential Exhibit 11 to Complainanfs Verified Complaint, for which
Complainant seeks confidential treatment;

3. To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, founded after a reasonable inquiry,
substantially-identical information to that contained in Confidential Exhibit l 1 is not
available to the public.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

-.- L‘*\'~ _.Executed this _ day ot May, 2018.

David C. Marcus



UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN MOVABLE BARRIER Investigation N0. 337-TA
OPERATOR SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

COMPLAINANT’S PUBLIC INTEREST STATEMENT

In support of its complaint filed May 4, 2018, Complainant The Chamberlain Group, Inc.

(“CGI”) hereby submits this public interest statement, as required by 19 C.F.R. § 2l0.8(b). As

discussed below, the remedy sought against proposed Respondents Nortek Security & Control,

LLC, f/k/a Linear LLC, Nortek, Inc., and GTO Access Systems, LLC f/k/a Gates That Open,

LLC, (collectively “Respondents”) will not have an adverse effect on the public health or

welfare, competitive conditions in the United States economy, production of like or directly

competitive articles in the United States, or United States consumers.

Complainant is seeking a permanent limited exclusion order specifically directed to the

proposed Respondents that will exclude from entry into the United States components and

products that infringe one or more claims of U.S. Patent Nos. 8,587,404 (the “’404 Patent”);

7,755,223 (the “‘223 Patent”); and 6,741,052 (the “’O52 Patent”) (collectively, the “Asserted

Patents”). Complainant also seeks pennanent cease and desist orders, pursuant to Section 337(f)

directing each Respondent to cease and desist from activities including, but not limited to,

importing, marketing, advertising, demonstrating, warehousing inventory for distribution,

offering for sale, selling, distributing, servicing, repairing, maintaining, programming, updating,

or using such Accused Products in the United States.
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The Accused Products in this investigation, as identified in the accompanying complaint,

are movable barrier operator systems (e.g., garage door operators) and components thereof,

manufactured by or on behalf of the named Respondents that infringe one or more of the

Asserted Patents. The requested remedial orders, which would exclude only those movable

barrier operator systems manufactured or sold by Respondents, are not contrary to the public

interest. See Certain Access Control Systems and Components Thereofi lnv. No. 337-TA-1016,

Notice oflssuance of Limited Exclusion Order (Mar. 23, 2018) (finding that the public interest

factors did not preclude the issuance ofa limited exclusion ‘orderor cease and desist orders

against the accused access control systems, including movable barrier operators). Further, the

Commission has long recognized the strong public interest in enforcing intellectual property

rights. See Certain Baseband Processor Chips and Chipsets, Transmitter and Receiver (Radio)

Chips, Power Control Chips, and Products Containing Same, Including Cellular Telephone

Handsets, lnv. No. 337-TA-543, USITC Pub. 4258, at I36-37 (Oct. 201 l).

ln this investigation, the only potentially relevant public interest inquiry is whether the

exclusion ofthis particular subset of movable barrier operator systems and components would

have an adverse effect on the public interest factors set forth in Section 337. Complainant

respectfully submits that it would not.

Rule 210.8(b)(l) Explanation of how the articles potentially subject to the requested
remedial orders are used in the United States

The Accused Products that would be subject to the remedial orders are movable barrier

operator systems (e.g., garage door operators) and related accessories that are imported by

Respondents from outside of the United States and sold to customers such as homeowners and

business establishments. Customers are typically agnostic as to who manufactures movable
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barrier operator systems. Instead, they choose a particular product based on price, availability,

ease of use, and the presence of particular features such as the ability to control the system

remotely.

Rule 2l0.8(b)(2) Identification of any public health, safety, or welfare concerns
relating to the requested remedial orders

There are no public health, safety, or welfare concerns that weigh against remedial relief.

The Accused Products are not designed for, nor are they used for, any specific use that would

implicate the public health or welfare, and while some of the patented features relate to safety,

Complainant has the ability to meet any additional demand for products with those features

should the requested remedial orders be issued. See Certain Radio Control Hobby Transmitters

and Receivers and Products Containing Same, lnv. No. 337-TA-763, Notice of Issuance of

Limited Exclusion Order (Sept. 27, 20l I).

Rule 2l0.8(b)(3) Identification of like or directly competitive articles that
Complainant or third parties make that would replace the subject articles if they
were to be excluded

Complainant designs, manufactures, and sells a variety of movable barrier operator

systems to customers in the United States. Complainant is widely recognized as the leading

manufacturer of quality movable barrier operator systems. Indeed, Complainant’s products were

awarded the top three spots in a review of garage door operators in December 2017.

http://garage-door-openers-review.toptenreviews.com. Moreover, Complainant is the largest

supplier of garage door operators to the United States market, including movable barrier operator

systems with the patented features. On infomqation and belief, the Accused Products comprise

less than ten percent of that market, and as mentioned above, if needed, Complainant could

increase production to replace any excluded products.
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ln addition, competitors provide garage door operators to the consuming public that

would not be implicated by the requested remedial orders.

Rule 2l0.8(b)(4) Identification of whether the Complainant has the capacity to
replace the volume of articles subject to the requested remedial orders in a
commercially reasonable time in the United States

As noted in the previous section, Complainant is a leader in the field of movable barrier

operator systems. Complainant and, on infonnation and belief, non-accused products made

and/or sold by competitors other than those named in the complaint, would have the ability to

expand their manufacturing capacity sufficiently to replace the volume ofarticles that would be

subject to the requested remedial orders.

CONCLUSION

If the Commission grants the requested remedial orders, the public interest in protecting

Complainant’s valid and enforceable intellectual property rights will be served. In addition, the

accused systems are not necessary to any health or welfare need, and an adequate supply of

substitute systems will be available through Complainant and other competitors. As such, the

strong public interest in protecting Complainant’s intellectual property rights outweighs any

potential adverse impact on the public.
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Dated: May 4, 2018

Respectfully submitted,

WILMER CUTLER PICKERING HALE AND
DORR LLP

01);)M
William F. Lee
Felicia H. Ellsworth
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
60 State Street
Boston, MA 02109
Telephone: +1 617 526 6000
Facsimile: +1 617 526 5000

David C. Marcus
James M. Dowd
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
350 South Grand Avenue, Suite 2100
Los Angeles, CA 90071
Telephone: +1 213 443 5300
Facsimile: +1 213 443 5400

Michael D. Esch
Gregory H. Lantier
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
1875 Pennsylvania Ave., NW
Washington, DC 20006
Telephone: + 1 202 663 6000 _
Facsimile: + 1 202 663 6363

Counselfor Complainant
The Chamberlain Group, Inc.
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN MOVABLE BARRIER Investigation No. 337-TA
OPERATOR SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

COMPLAINT OF THE CHAMBERLAIN GROUP, INC.
UNDER SECTION 337 OF THE TARIFF ACT OF 1930, AS AMENDED

COMPLAINANT: PROPOSED RESPONDENTS:
The Chamberlain Group, Inc. Nortek Security & Control, LLC f/k/a Linear,
300 Windsor Drive LLC
Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 1950 Camino Vida Roble
Telephone: (630) 279-3600 Carlsbad, CA 92008

~ Telephone: (760) 438-7000
COUNSEL FOR COMPLAINANT:
WILMER CUTLER PICKERING HALE Nortek, Inc.
AND DORR LLP 500 Exchange Street

_ Providence, R1 02903
William F. Lee Telephone: (401) 751-1600
Felicia H. Ellsworth
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP GTO Access Systems, LLC f/k/a Gates That
60 State Street Open, LLC
Boston, MA 02109 K 3121 Hartsfield Road
Telephone: +1 617 526 6000 Tallahassee, FL 32303
Facsimile: +1 617 526 5000 Telephone: (850)575-0176

David C. Marcus
James M. Dowd
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
350 South Grand Avenue, Suite 2100
Los Angeles, CA 90071
Telephone: +1 213 443 5300
Facsimile: +1 213 443 5400

Michael D. Esch

Gregory H. Lantier
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP
1875 Pennsylvania Ave., NW
Washington, DC 20006
Telephone: + 1 202 663 6000
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I. INTRODUCTIGN

1.1 Complainant The Chamberlain Group, Inc. (“CGI” or “Complainant”) requests

that the United States lntemational Trade Commission commence an investigation pursuant to

Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (“Section 337”), to remedy

the unlawful importation into the United States, sale for importation into the United States,

and/or sale within the United States after importation by the owner, importer, or consignee (or

agents thereof), of certain movable barrier operator systems and components thereof (collectively

referred to as “Accused Products”) that infringe valid and enforceable United States patents

owned by CG]. '

1.2 The proposed respondents are Nortek Security & Control, LLC, f/k/a Linear LLC,

Nortek, lnc., and GTO Access Systems, LLC f/k/a Gates That Open LLC (collectively

“Respondents”). Upon information and belief, Respondents have engaged in unfair acts in

violation of Section 337 through and in connection with the unlicensed importation into the

United States, sale for importation into the United States, and/or sale within the United States

after importation of Accused Products that infringe one or more claims of U.S. Patent Nos.

8,587,404 (the ‘"404 Patent”); 7,755,223 (the “’223 Patent”); and 6,741,052 (the ‘"052 Patent”).

The ’404, ’223, and ’052 Patents are collectively referred to herein as “the Asserted Patents.”

1.3 Complainant asserts that Respondents directly infringe, contributorily infringe,

and/or induce the infringement ofat least claims 7, 11, 16, 17, and 18 ofthe ’404 Patent; at least

claims 1, 2, 9, 13, 14, 18, 19,20, 21, and 22 ofthe ’223 Patent; and at least claims l, 9-15, 22,

and 27 of the ’052 Patent (collectively, the “Asserted Claims”).
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1.4 Certified copies ofthe Asserted Patents accompany this Complaint as Exhibits l

3. CGI owns by assignment the entire right, title, and interest in and to the Asserted Patents.

Certified copies ofthe recorded assignments accompany this Complaint as Exhibits 4-6.

1.5 As required by Section 337(a)(2) and defined by Section 337(a)(3), an industry in

the United States exists relating to articles covered by the Asserted Patents.

1.6 Complainant seeks a permanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to Section

337(d), excluding from entry into the United States all of Respondents’ Accused Products that

infringe one or more claims ofthe Asserted Patents. Complainant also seeks permanent cease

and desist orders, pursuant to Section 337(f), directing each Respondent to cease and desist from

activities including, but not limited to, importing, marketing, advertising, demonstrating,

warehousing inventory for distribution, offering for sale, selling, distributing, servicing,

repairing, maintaining, programming, updating, or using such Accused Products in the United

States. Further, Complainant seeks the imposition ofa bond on any imports during the

Presidential review period.

II. COMPLAINANT

2.1 The Chamberlain Group, "Inc.(“CGI”) is a corporation organized under the laws

ofthe State of Connecticut, with its principal place of business in Oak Brook, lllinois.

2.2 CGI was founded in 1906 and offers innovative movable barrier operator systems

including residential garage door operators, commercial door operators, gate access solutions,

home connectivity products, and related accessories. CGI is a global leader in designing and

delivering innovative movable barrier operator systems for both residential and commercial

applications, with products grounded in safety, security, connectivity, and reliability. CG] is
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trusted by homeowners and businesses alike to combine the convenience of cutting-edge

technology with a commitment to safety and reliability.

2.3 Some of CGI’s best-known offerings include the globally-recognized

Chamberlain®, LiftMaster®, Merlin®, and Grifco® brands. CGI has a long history of

innovation, continually improving the safety, security, and convenience of its products while

delivering unparalleled functionality and cutting-edge features. Starting in 20l l, for example,

CG] was the first to bring its innovative MyQ®technology to market. MyQ®technology

delivers the power to run home or office infrastructure to the palm ofa user’s hand in the form of

a convenient, internet-connected smartphone application. Core MyQ®features include the

ability to safely and securely control garage doors, gates, and other access points from anywhere,

receive real-time notifications when access points open or close, preset times to either open or

close MyQ®-enabled access points (or turn security lighting on or off), or connect to peripherals

such as live video feeds, geofence enclosures, or temperature control devices. Building upon the

success ofthis first-of-its-kind technology, CGI today offers a variety of MyQ®-enabledoperator

and lighting options under its premier LiftMaster®and Chamberlain® brands, as well as the

ability to retrofit most major-brand operators with MyQ®capability.

2.4 CGI has developed a substantial United States market for its innovative garage

door operators and associated products. As detailed, infra, CG] employs hundreds of people in

the United States who are dedicated to the design, research, development, customization, service,

repair, and technical support of its garage door operators, commercial door operators, gate access

solutions, home connectivity products, and related accessories for United States customers.
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III. PROPOSED RESPONDENTS

A. Nortek Security & Control, LLC, f/k/a Linear, LLC.

3.l On information and belief, Nortek Security & Control, LLC, formerly known as

Linear, LLC. is a California Corporation with a principal place of business at 1950 Camino Vida

Roble, Carlsbad, CA 92008. See Exhibit 25.

3.2 On information and belief, Nortek Security & Control, LLC, or others on its

behalf, manufactures the Linear and Amarr lines of garage door operators and accessories that

embody the Asserted Patents. For example, according to the product brochure for the Linear

SMART Garage Door Operators (LDCO 850/852), “Linear is a registered trademark of Nortek

Security & Control LLC." See Exhibit 28. Linear products are marketed on websites

copyrighted by Nortek Security & Control, LLC. See Exhibits 29-30.

3.3 On information and belief, Nortek Security & Control, LLC, or others on its

behalf, manufactures Accused Products in China or another foreign country, and then imports,

sells for importation, and/or sells the Accused Products in the United States after importation.

B. Nortek, lnc.

3.4 On information and belief, Nortek, lnc. is a Delaware Corporation with a

principal place of business at 500 Exchange Street, Providence, Rl 02903. See Exhibit 26.

Nortek Security & Control, LLC is a wholly-owned subsidiary ofNortek, lnc. See Exhibit 25.

3.5 On information and belief, Nortek, lnc., or others on its behalf, manufactures the

Accused Products in China or another foreign country, and then imports, sells for importation,

and/or sells the Accused Products in the United States after importation.
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C. GTO Access Systems, LLC

3.6 On information and belief, GTO Access Systems, LLC f/k/a Gates That Open,

LLC (hereinafter “GTO”) is a Florida corporation, having a principal office located at 3 l2|

Hartsfield Road, Tallahassee, FL 32303. See Exhibit 27. On information and belief, GTO

operates as a subsidiary of Nortek Security & Control, LLC f/k/a Linear, LLC. See id.

(Bloomberg company overview stating “[a]s of December 9, 2005, GTO Access Systems, LLC

operates as a subsidiary of Linear LLC”); see also Exhibit 25. ln its 2014 to 2017 Florida

limited liability company annual reports, GTO Access Systems, LLC lists Nortek Security &

Control, LLC as its Managing Member. See Exhibit 34.

3.7 On information and belief, GTO, or others on its behalf, manufactures the

Accused Products in China or another foreign country, and then imports, sells for importation,

and/or sells the Accused Products in the United States after importation. For example, Exhibit

I5 contains photographs ofa Linear LDCO850, a Linear LDCO852, an Amarr 840, and an

Amarr 860 purchased in the United States. The carton of each Accused Product is labeled

“Copyright 2017 GTO Access Systems, LLC” while the major components are also labeled

“GTO Access Systems, LLC.” Id. See also Exhibit 27 (Bloomberg company overview stating

“GTO Access Systems, LLC designs, manufactures, and distributes automatic gate openers and

access control systems through brands such as Mighty Mule and GTO Access Systems . . . lt

sells its products through local stocking dealers and distributors; and online retailers in the

United States”).

IV. THE TECHNOLOGY AND PRODUCTS AT ISSUE

4.l The technologies at issue relate generally to various aspects ofa barrier

movement operator, such as a garage door or gate operator. As explained, infra, the Asserted
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Patents are directed to various aspects and features of the safe and efficient functioning of a

barrier such as a garage door or gate, including improving the warning notification so that safety

wamings are issued when a movable barrier is operated wirelessly but not locally; reducing

energy consumption by providing full power to features only when they are needed; and

automatically determining a safe and effective force threshold while accommodating manual

adjustments over time.

4.2 Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 2l0.l2(a)(1 2), the Accused Products are certain movable

barrier operator systems and components thereof, including garage door operators such as, but

not limited to, the Linear LDCO850, Linear LDCO852, Amarr 840, and Amarr 860 that, without

permission, implement CGI’s patented technologies as described and claimed in the Asserted

Patents.

4.3 Below is a summary table identifying which Accused Products infringe which

specific claims of the Asserted Patents (asterisks indicate independent claims asserted):

l\J—-—'\l
*~

U.S. Patent N0. Asserted Claims I Accused Products

8 587 404 7*, 11*, l6*, 17, and l Linear LDCO850, Linear LDCO852, Amarr’ ’ I8 840, and Amarr 860

l*, 2, 9, l3, 14, 18*, l Linear LDCO850, Linear LDCO852, Amarr9, 20, 21*, and 22 840, and Amarr 860

* 9-15, 22*, and ‘ Linear LDCO850, Linear LDCO852, Amarr840, and Amarr 860

7,755,223

6,74 I ,O52

V. THE ASSERTED PATENTS

A. The ‘404 Patent

1. Identification of the Patent and Ownership by CGI

5.1 U.S. Patent No. 8,587,404 (the “’404 Patent”) is entitled “Movable Barrier

Operator and Transmitter with Imminent Barrier Moving Notification” and was duly and legally
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issued on November 19, 2013. The ’404 Patent issued from U.S. Patent Application Serial No.

l2/409,584, filed March 24, 2009. The inventor ofthe ’404 Patent is Edward T. Laird. See

Exhibit l.

l 5.2 CGl is the owner, by valid assignment, of the entire right, title, and interest in and

to the ’404 Patent. Prior to issuance, the ’404 inventor assigned all right, title, and interest in

U.S. Patent Application Serial No. l2/409,584. The assignment of the ’404 Patent to CG] is

recorded at the United States Patent and Trademark Office at Reel/Frame 022438/0130. See

Exhibit 4. The ’4()4 Patent is valid, enforceable, and is currently in full force and effect.

5.3 Pursuant to Rule 2lO.l2(c)o1°the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure,

this Complaint is accompanied by Appendices A and B containing: (A) a certified copy and

three additional copies of the prosecution history of the ‘404 Patent; and (B) four copies of each

reference mentioned in that prosecution history.

2. Non-Technical Description of the Patented Invention‘

5.4 The ’404 Patent relates to an improved movable barrier operator system. It is

directed in general to improving the safe operation of a movable barrier such as a garage door.

Garage doors and other movable barriers can be large, heavy, and if not monitored by a user

when activated, could inadvertently harm an unaware bystander. These circumstances can exist

when a garage door is operated wirelessly from a remote location. The ’404 Patent claims both

systems and apparatus for providing safety warning notifications when operated under such

l The non-technical descriptions of the Asserted Patents herein are presented to give a
general background of the inventions. Such statements are not intended to be used, nor should
they be used, for purposes of patent claim interpretation. Complainant presents these statements
subject to, and without waiver of, its right to argue that claim terms should be construed in a
particular way, as contemplated by claim interpretation jurisprudence and the relevant intrinsic
and extrinsic evidence.
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circumstances, while at the same time being smart enough to dispense with potentially annoying

warnings when operated locally.

3. Foreign Counterparts to the ’404 Patent

5.5 Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), Exhibit 7 identifies the foreign

patents and patent applications corresponding to the ’404 Patent, and the ,_statusof each. No other

patents or patent applications corresponding to the ’404 Patent have beerl filed, denied,

abandoned, or withdrawn.

B. The ’223 Patent

l. Identification of the Patent and Ownership by CGI

5.6 U.S. Patent No. 7,755,223 (the “’223 Patent”) is entitled “Movable Barrier

Operator with Energy Management Control and Corresponding Method” and was duly and

legally issued on July l3, 2010. The ’223 Patent issued from U.S. Patent Application Serial No.

10/227,182 filed on August 23, 2002. The inventor ofthe ’223 Patent is James .l. Fitzgibbon.

See Exhibit 2.

5.7 CGI is the owner, by valid assignment, ofthe entire right, title, and interest in and

to the ‘223 Patent. Prior to issuance, the ’223 inventor assigned all right, title, and interest in

U.S. Patent Application Serial No. I0/227,182. The assignment of the ’223 Patent to CG] is

recorded at the United States Patent and Trademark Office at Reel/Frame 0l5522/0703. See

Exhibit 5. The ’223 Patent is valid, enforceable, and is currently in full force and effect.

5.8 Pursuant to Rule 210.l2(c) ofthe Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure,

this Complaint is accompanied by Appendices C and D containing: (C) a certified copy and

three additional copies ofthe prosecution history ofthe ’223 Patent; and (D) four copies of each

reference mentioned in that prosecution history.
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2. Non-Technical Description of the Patented Invention

5.9 The ’223 Patent relates in general to an energy-efficient movable barrier system.

Conventional movable barrier operators, such as garage door operators, were generally designed

to provide full power to all elements ofthe system at all times. For systems that include features

like obstacle detectors, however, keeping the entire system fully powered at all times can be

energy-inefficient, as the obstacle-sensing beam does not need to be fully powered when, for

example, the garage door is closed. Among other benefits, the inventive apparatus helps reduce

energy consumption by providing full power to features like the obstacle detector when they are

needed, but switching them into a low-power standby mode when they are not.

3. Foreign Counterparts to the ’223Patent

5.10 Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), Exhibit 7 identifies the foreign

patents and patent applications corresponding to the ’223 Patent and the status of each. No other

patents or patent applications corresponding to the ’223 Patent have been filed, denied,

abandoned, or withdrawn.

C. The ’O52Patent

1. Identification of the Patent and Ownership by CGI

5.11 U.S. Patent No. 6,741,052 (the “’052 Patent”) is entitled “Post-Automatically

Determined User-Modifiable Activity Performance Limit Apparatus and Method” and was duly

and legally issued on May 25, 2004. The ‘O52Patent issued from U.S. Patent Application Serial

No. 10/120,756, filed on April 11, 2002. The inventor ofthe ’052 Patent is James J. Fitzgibbon.

See Exhibit 3.

5.12 CG] is the owner, by valid assignment, of the entire right, title, and interest in and

to the ’052 Patent. Prior to issuance, the ’052 inventor assigned all right, title, and interest in
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U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 10/120,756. The assignment ofthe ’052 Patent is recorded at

the United States Patent and Trademark Office at Reel/Frame 012793/0601. See Exhibit 6. The

’052 Patent is valid, enforceable, and is currently in full force and effect‘.

5.13 Pursuant to Rule 2l0.l2(c) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure,

this Complaint is accompanied by Appendices E and F containing: (E) a certified copy and three

additional copies ofthe prosecution history ofthe ’052 Patent; and (F) four copies of each

reference mentioned in that prosecution history.

2. Non-Technical Description of the Patented Invention

5.14 The ’052 Patent relates to systems and methods of automatically detemwininga

safe and effective force threshold for operation of a movable barrier system and permitting

manual adjustment of the force threshold after the automatic determination, The force used to

move a barrier such as a garage door must be calibrated to a level appropriate for a given

installation and then re-calibrated over the lifetime of the system to adjust for a variety of factors

including friction, wear, age, temperature, maintenance, and temporary or pennanent physical

impingements. Without recalibration, barrier movement may become unsafe, as the force used

to open the barrier could become insufficient to lift it, or the force used to close the barrier could

become excessive such that it no longer reverses direction when it encounters an obstacle. The

invention ofthe ’052 Patent automatically detemnnes a safe and effective force threshold, but

also accommodates manual adjustments over time, which makes the system easier to install and

use, more cost-effective, more efficient, and safer.

3. Foreign Counterparts to the ’052 Patent

5.15 Pursuant to Commission Rule 2l0.l2(a)(9)(v), Exhibit 7 identifies the foreign

patents and patent applications corresponding to the ’052 Patent and the status of each. No other
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patents or patent applications corresponding to the ’052 Patent have been filed, denied,

abandoned, or withdrawn.

VI. UNFAIR ACTS OF PROPOSED RESPONDENTS

6.1 Upon information and belief, Respondents’ Accused Products directly infringe,

contributorily infringe, and/or induce the infringement of at least the Asserted Claims——i.e.,

claims 7, ll, l6, 17, and 18 ofthe ’404 Patent; claims 1, 2, 9, 13, 14, 18, 19, 20, 21, and 22 of

the ’223 Patent; and claims l, 9-15, 22, and 27 ofthe "O52Patent. Discovery may reveal that

Respondents infringe additional claims ofthe Asserted Patents.

6.2 On information and belief, Respondents manufacture, assemble, package and test,

and/or purchase the Accused Products outside ofthe United States, specifically, at least in China.

Respondents then sell for importation, import into the United States, and/or sell within the

United States after importation, the Accused Products.

6.3 On information and belief, and by way of example, the Respondents directly

infringe, contributorily infringe, and/or induce infringement of the Asserted Claims by selling for

importation, importing, and selling in the United States after importation barrier movement

operator systems, including, but not limited to, the Linear LDCO850, Linear LDCO852, Amarr

840, and Amarr 860. Claim charts demonstrating how these representative Accused Products

infringe independent claims 7, 11, and 16 ofthe ’404 Patent, claims 1, 18, and 21 of the ’223

Patent, and claims 1, 22, and 27 ofthe ’052 Patent are attached to the Complaint as Exhibits 8, 9,

and 10 respectively. Discovery may reveal additional infringing movable barrier operator

systems, and/or additional claims infringed by the Accused Products. CGI reserves all rights to

amend its contentions in light of any such later-discovered additional infringement.
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6.4 Respondents have induced, and continue to induce, infringement of the Asserted

Patents with the specific intent that these acts infringe the Asserted Patents. On information and

belief, Respondents actively induce others to infringe at least the asserted method claims through

their sale of the Accused Products to customers in the United States. See Exhibit 15.

6.5 Respondents induce such infringing acts and know or should have known that

their actions would induce actual infringement of the Asserted Patents. Upon information and

belief, Respondent Nortek Security & Control, LLC had actual notice of the Asserted Patents by

no later than December 4, 2017 when CGI served Respondent Nortek Security & Control, LLC

with a copy of the complaint it filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of

Califomia, which included claim charts explaining how Respondent Nortek Security & Control,

LLC directly infringed and/or induced its customers and users to infringe the ’404, ’223, and

’052 Patents, and copies of the ’404, ’223, and ’O52 Patents. Further, upon information and

belief, Respondent GTO had notice of the Asserted Patents and its infringement on or around

December 4, 2017, because Respondent Nortek Security & Control, LLC is GTO’s Managing

Member. At the latest, upon information and belief, Respondents Nortek, lnc. and GTO will

have received actual notice of the Asserted Patents and their infringement on or after May 4,

2018 upon receipt of a courtesy sen/ice copy of this Complaint and the attached public exhibits,

which include copies of the ’404, ’223, and ‘O52Patents, and claim charts which explain how

Respondents directly infringe and/or induce their customers and users to infringe the ’404, ’223,

and ’052 Patents.

6.6 Upon information and belief, Respondents create and distribute promotional and

product literature for the Accused Products and offer technical support and services for the

Accused Products that are designed to instruct, encourage, enable, and facilitate the use of the
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Accused Products in a manner that infringes the Asserted Patents. See Exhibits 16-19, 28-31,

35-37.

6.7 For example, upon information and belief, Respondents instruct and encourage

users to configure and/or use the Accused Products in a manner that infringes the asserted claims

of the ’404 Patent, and the Accused Products have been configured and/or used in a manner that

infringes the asserted claims of the ’404 Patent in the United States. See Exhibit 8 at 2 (citing

video evidence of infringing use that was recorded, on information and belief, in the United

States). Respondents advertise and distribute manuals and other media that encourage their

customers to purchase the Accused Products, and provide detailed instructions on how to install,

support, service, repair, and operate a garage door operator system with a selective moving

barrier imminent motion notification. These Accused Products, including without limitation the

Linear LDCO850, Linear LDCO852, Amarr 840, and Amarr 860, comprise operator systems that

can provide safety warning notifications when operated wirelessly from a remote location but

without the annoyance of waming when operated locally, as claimed in the ’404 Patent.

Respondents further offer repair, support, service, installation, and troubleshooting services that

encourage and facilitate the use ofthe Accused Products in an infringing manner. See Exhibits

I6-l9, 28-31, 35-37.

6.8 Similarly, upon information and belief, Respondents instruct and encourage users

to configure and/or use the Accused Products in a manner that infringes the asserted claims of

the ’223 Patent. Respondents advertise and distribute manuals and other media that encourage

their customers to purchase the Accused Products, and provide detailed instructions on how to

install, support, service, repair, and operate a garage door operator system that reduces energy

consumption by providing full power to features (like an obstacle detector) when they are
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needed, but switching them into a low-power mode when they are not. These Accused Products,

including without limitation the Linear LDCO850, Linear LDCO852, Amarr 840, and Amarr

860, comprise operator systems that reduce energy consumption as claimed in the ’223 Patent.

Respondents further offer repair, support, service, installation, and troubleshooting services that

encourage and facilitate the use ofthe Accused Products in an infringing manner. See Exhibits

16-19, 28-31, 35-37. i

6.9 Likewise, upon information and belief, Respondents instruct and encourage users

to configure and/or use the Accused Products in a manner that infringes the asserted claims of

the ’052 Patent. Respondents advertise and distribute manuals and other media that encourage

their customers to purchase the Accused Products, and provide detailed instructions on how to

install, support, service, repair, and operate a garage door operator system that automatically

determines a safe and effective force threshold and permits manual adjustment of the force

threshold after the automatic detemwination.1These Accused Products, including without

limitation the Linear LDCO850, Linear LDCO852, Amarr 840, and Amarr 860, comprise

operator systems that determine and adjust a force threshold as claimed in the ’052 Patent.

Respondents further offer repair, support, installation, and troubleshooting services that

encourage and facilitate the use of the Accused Products in an infringing manner. See Exhibits

16-19, 28-31, 35-37. _

6.lO To the extent Respondents contend that they do not sell for importation, import,

or sell in the United States after importation products that include all ofthe limitations ofthe

asserted apparatus claims, Respondents contributorily infringe certain of the Asserted Claims

through their sale within the United States and/or importation into the United States, of

components of the Accused Products, constituting a material part of the Asserted Claims,
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knowing the same to be especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement ofthe

Asserted Patents, and not a staple article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial

noninfringing use. For example, on information and belief, the Accused Products and

components thereof are specifically designed as energy efficient garage door operator systems

that provide safc operation, at least in part, by issuing a warning alann when operated wirelessly

but not when operated locally, and can automatically detennine safe and effective force

thresholds while still allowing for manual adjustment.

6.1 l For example, Respondents, upon information and belief, sell for importation into

the United States, import into the United States, sell within the United States after importation,

and/or repair, service, or support Accused Products containing either a system and/or apparatus

that provides safety warning notifications when operated wirelessly from a remote location

without the annoyance of warning when operated locally for which there.is no suitable or

substantial noninfringing use and whichlembody a material part of the inventions described in

the ’404 Patent. In addition, upon infonnation and belief, Accused Products having a movable

barrier system with moving-barrier imminent motion notification are known by Respondents to

be made or especially adapted for use in the infringement ofthe Asserted Patents.

6.l2 For example, Respondents, upon information and belief, sell for importation into

the United States, import into the United States, sell within the United‘States after importation,

and/or repair, service, or support Accused Products that are energy-efficient because they are

able to provide full power to systems when needed and switch to low-power standby when they

are not for which there is no suitable or substantial noninfringing use and which embody a

material part ofthe inventions described in the ’223 Patent. In addition, upon information and

belief, Accused Products having the ability to provide full power to operational features and
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standby power to nonoperational features are known by Respondents to be made or especially

adapted for use in the infringement of the Asserted Patents.

6.13 For example, Respondents, upon information and belief, sell for importation into

the United States, import into the United States, sell within the United States after importation,

and/or repair, service, or support Accused Products having a garage door operator that

automatically determines a safe and effective force threshold for operation of a movable barrier

system that permits manual adjustment of the force threshold after the automatic determination

for which there is no suitable or substantial noninfringing use and which embody a material part

ofthe inventions described in the ‘O52Patent. In addition, upon information and belief, Accused

Products having a garage door operator that automatically determines a safe and effective force

threshold, but also accommodates manual adjustments over time are known by Respondents to

be made or especially adapted for use in the infringement of the Asserted Patents.

6.14 Respondents sell the Accused Products with the knowledge that the systems i

infringe. Upon information and belief, at least Respondent Nortek Security & Control, LLC had

actual notice of the Asseited Patents by no later than December 4, 20l 7 when CG] served

Respondent Nortek Security & Control, LLC with a copy of the complaint it filed in the U.S.

District Court for the Southern District of California, which included claim charts explaining

how Respondent Nortek Security & Control, LLC directly and/or indirectly infringe the ’404,

‘Z23, and ’052 Patents, and copies ofthe ’404, ’223, and ’052 Patents. Further, upon

infonnation and belief, Respondent GTO had notice of the Asserted Patents and its infringement

on or around December 4, 2017, because Respondent Nortek Security & Control, LLC is GTO’s

Managing Member. At the latest, upon infonnation and belief, Respondents Nortek, Inc. and

GTO will have received actual notice of the Asserted Patents and their infringement on or after
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May 4, 2018 upon receipt of a courtesy service copy of this Complaint and the attached public

exhibits, which include copies of the ’404, ’223, and ’052 Patents, and claim charts which

explain how Respondents directly and/or indirectly infringe the ’404, ’223, and ’052 Patents.

VII. SPECIFIC INSTANCES OF UNFAIR IMPORTATION AND SALE

7.1 On information and belief, Respondents, or others on their behalf, manufacture

the Accused Products in China or another country other than the United States and then import

them into the United States, sell them for importation into the United States, and/or sell them

after importation into the United States.

7.2 On information and belief, Respondent Nortek Security & Control, LLC owns a

manufacturing facility in Shenzhen, China. See Exhibit 32 (a Nortek Security & Control, LLC

fact sheet explaining “NSC owned manufacturing facility [Linear Electronics] is an ISO

9001:2008 certified, state—of-the-art,380,000 square foot manufacturing facility in Shenzhen,

China” and that “Noitek Security & Control LLC is a global leader in smart connected

systems”).

7.3 Further, examples of the Linear LDCO850, Linear LDCO852, Amarr 840, and

Amarr 860 accused products were purchased on or around February 20, 2018 from Town &

Country Garage Doors, located in Lancaster, Califomia. See Exhibit 15. The carton, garage

door operator, and wall unit of each accused product are all labeled “MADE IN CHINA,”

indicating that each accused product was manufactured and/or assembled in China. See id.

7.4 Discovery is expected to reveal additional specific acts of Respondents’

importation, sale for importation, and/or sale after importation of the Accused Products.

17



VIII. CLASSIFICATION UNDER THE HARIVIONIZEDTARIFF SCHEDULE

8.1 The Accused Products are believed to fall within at least the following

classifications ofthe Harmonized Tariff Schedule ofthe United States: 8302.60.30 and

8302.60.90. These classifications are intended for illustration only and are not intended to be

restrictive ofthe Accused Products.

IX. LICENSEES

9.l To date, CG] has not licensed any ofthe Asserted Patents.

X. DOMESTIC INDUSTRY

l0.l As required by Section 337(a)(2) and defined by Section 337(a)(3), a domestic

industry exists in the United States in connection with articles protected by the ’404, ’223, and

’052 Patents. i

A. Technical Prong

10.2 Claim charts demonstrating how exemplary CGI movable barrier operator

systems practice at least one claim of each ofthe ’404, ’223, and ’052 Patents are attached as

Exhibits l2, 13, and 14 respectively. CGl’s movable barrier operator systems are therefore

protected by the ‘404, ’223, and ’052 Patents, and a domestic industry for those articles exists.

B. Economic Prong V

10.3 A domestic industry, under subparagraphs (A), (B), and/or (C) of Section

337(a)(3), exists by virtue of'CGl’s significant investment in plant and equipment, significant

employment of labor and capital, and substantial investment in the exploitation ofthe Asserted

Patents in the United States, including through product research, development, design,

engineering, testing, and customer support. CGI garage door operators and swing and slide gate

operators are protected by at least the ’404, ’223, and ’052 Patents. CGI’s domestic activities
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and investments related to the articles protected by the Asserted Patents are described in the

Confidential Declaration of Thomas Robin. See generally Confidential Exhibit l l. In particular,

certain Wi-Fi garage door operators, certain garage door operators without Wi-Fi, and certain

swing and slide gate operators are protected by the Asserted Patents. Certain Wi-Fi garage door

operators practice the ’404 and ’223 Patents, certain garage door operators without Wi-Fi

practice the ’223 Patent, and certain swing and slide gate operators practice the ‘O52Patent. The

domestic industry products account for a significant portion of CGI’s overall revenues. See id. at

111]6-7.

l0.4 CGl’s engineering team designs, develops, and tests its innovative line of

movable barrier operator systems at its Oak Brook, Illinois headquarters and at its Product Test

Laboratory in Elmhurst, Illinois. See id. at fll9. At these facilities, CGI has conducted and

continues to conduct research, design, development, engineering, and testing for the domestic

industry products. Id. CGI employs many people in the United States, including a significant

concentration of employees at its headquarters in Oak Brook, Illinois. Id. at il 8. CGI also

employs a significant number of people at its Tucson, Arizona Technical Support Center to

handle customer service and repair of its products, including the domestic industry products. Id.

at {I11l3-14.

10.5 To develop and support the domestic industry products, CGI has made and

continues to make a significant investment in plant and equipment at its Oak Brook, Elmhurst,

and Tucson facilities with respect to articles protected by the Asserted Patents. Further details of

CGl’s investment in plant and equipment are provided in Confidential Exhibit l l.

10.6 CGI has made and continues to make a significant investment in the employment

of labor and capital in the United States with respect to articles protected by the Asserted Patents.

I9
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Further details of CG1’s employment of labor and capital are provided in Confidential Exhibit

l l.

10.7 CG1 has made and continues to make substantial investments in the exploitation

ofthe Asserted Patents. CGI has invested and continues to invest in the design, research,

development, engineering, service, and support of the patented features of the articles covered by

the Asserted Patents through its investments in the technical work performed at its lllinois

facilities. Confidential Exhibit 11 sets forth in more detail CGI’-ssubstantial investments

associated with the exploitation of CG1’s rights in the Asserted Patents.

XI. RELATED LITIGATION

11.1 On November 30, 2017, CGI filed a complaint against Respondent Nortek

Security & Control, LLC, f/k/a Linear LLC in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of

Califomia, alleging infringement ofone or more claims of the ’404, ’223t and ’O52Patents. The
1

Chamberlain Group, Inc. v. Nortek Security & Control LLC (Civil Action No. 17 cv 02412).

That case is currently pending.

11.2 On June 14,2011, CG1 filed a complaint against GMI Holdings, lnc. and

Overhead Door Corporation in the U.S. District Court for the Northem District of Illinois,

alleging infringement of one or more claims of the ’O52Patent. The Chamberlain Group, Inc. v.

GM] Holdings, Inc. er al. (Civil Action No. l l cv 04026). On April 6, 2012, the Honorable

Matthew F. Kennelly approved the parties’ stipulated order of dismissal and CG1’s claims were

dismissed with prejudice.

11.3 Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. 210.12(a)(5), Complainant certifies that the Asserted

Patents, or the subject matter thereof, have not been the subject of any other previous court or

agency litigation.
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XII. REQUESTED RELIEF

l2.l WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, Complainant requests that the United

Stateslntemational Trade Commission:

(a) Institute an immediate investigation, pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of

1930, as amended, l9 U.S.C. § 1337, with respect to violations of Section 337 based on the

Respondents’ unlawful importation into the United States, sale for importation into the United

States, and/or sale within the United States after importation ofcertain movable barrier operator

systems and components thereof, that infringe one or more claims of United States Patent Nos.

8,587,404, 7,755,223, and 6,741,052;

(b) Schedule and conduct a hearing on the unlawful acts and, following the hearing,

determine that there has been a violation of Section 337;

(c) Issue a permanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to Section 337(d) ofthe

Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, excluding from entry into the United States all of Respondents’

movable barrier operator systems and components thereof, that infringe one or more claims of

United States Patent Nos. 8,587,404, 7,755,223, and 6,741,052;

(d) Issue pennanent cease and desist orders, pursuant to Section 337(f) ofthe Tariff

Act of l930, as amended, directing each Respondent to cease and desist from the importation,

marketing, advertising, demonstrating, warehousing inventory for distribution, servicing,

repairing, maintaining, programming, updating, sale, and use of movable barrier operator

systems and components thereof, that infringe one or more claims of United States Patent Nos.

8,587,404, 7,755,223, and 6,741,052;

21



(e) Impose a bond upon importation or sale in the United Statesof infringing

systems, or components thereof, during the 60-day Presidential review period pursuant to 19

u.s.c. § 13376); and

(I) Grant such other and further relief as the Commission deems just and proper

based on the facts determined by the investigation and the authority of the Commission.
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VERIFICATION OF COMPLAINT

I, Thomas Robin, declare, in accordance with I9 C.F.R. §§ 210.4 and 2l().l2(a), under

penalty of perjury, that the following statements are true:

l. I am Director of Finance for Residential Access Solutions at The Chamberlain

Group, lnc., and I am duly authorized to sign this Complaint on behalf of the Complainant;

2. I have read the foregoing Complaint;

3. To the best of my knowledge, information, and belief, based upon reasonable

inquiry, the foregoing Complaint is well-founded in fact and is warranted by existing law or by a

non-frivolous argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law or the

establishment of new law;

4. The allegations or other factual contentions have evidentiary support or are likely

to have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery;

and '

5. The foregoing Complaint is not being filed for any improper purpose, such as to

harass or to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation.

Executed on: May 2, 2018 ‘

Thomas_Robm
Director of Finance
Residential Access Solutions

The Chamberlain Group, Ine.
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